DENNIS E. JEFFERSON

Appellant-Plaintiff

 $\{e\}$

vs.

.1

e,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, ET. AL.,

Appeal Cause No. 2011-CP-00265-SCT

Appellees-Defendants



BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

BY FOR Respectfully Submitted Appellant-plaintiff pro/se, 878 Rusche Rd. ł Benton, Mississippi 39039

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

DENNIS E. JEFFERSON Appellant vs. Appeal Cause No. 2011-CP-00265-SCT STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, ET AL., Appellees

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSON

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THE APPELLANT'S WRONGFUL CONVICTION PETITION WITHOUT PERMITTING 90 DAYS TO REFILE WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND AN ABUSE OF ITS DISCRETION AS A MATTER OF LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

That this Appeal results from the appellant's filing a complaint, and Petition for his wrong conviction pursuant to House Senate Bill 3024, [Miss. Code Ann. § 11-44-3], and his serving some twenty, (20) months, more or less in the Custody of The Mississippi Department of Corrections for the felony Charges of Burglary of A Dwelling purusant to Miss. Code Ann § 97-17-23, but prior to his conviction and sentence, being reversed, remanded and rendered by The Mississippi Supreme Court, too, resulting the trial Court's, resentencing the the appellant for and to a misdemeanor charge Trespass , moreover resulting in a Noll Pross, and precluding the

appellant's from being reprosecuted by the Mississippi State prosecutors for the felony criminal offense of burglary of a dwelling, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-17-23, thus, а noll pross within the meanings of House senate Bill, 3024 Miss. Code Ann. § 11-44-3, of 1972 as Amended. See CR. p. 1 Thru 6. However, subsequently from the appellant's June 14, 2010, filings, the trial Court, Honorable judge Janie Lewis, DISMISSED the appellant's complaint, petition. See CR. p. 7 Albeit, the appellate court's records does and 8. not reveal so much, the appellant on or about November 24, 2010, timely filed his motion for reconsiderations, from the trial Court's November 18, 2010, but the trial Court on or about January 19, 2011, entered its order and denying appellant's motion for reconsiderations. See CR. p. 9 and 10. And, the appellant timely filed his notice of appeal, Designation of The Records, Affidavit of Poverty And/Or Motion to Proceed In Forma Pauperis, on or about January 26, 2011, appealing, both the trial Court's orders, thus this Honorable Court now has jurisdiction, pursuant to The Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedures. See Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedures, Rules 4, 10, 11 and 28, see also, CR. p. 10 Thru 12.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND/OR SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The first that the appellant-plaintiff [HEREINAFTER JEFFERSON], first essential fact that the plaintiff requests, that the

Honorable Court and JUSTICES of this Court would consider is Whether or not, is Jefferson, " a victim of the renowned and long reverberating statistical findings by the United States Departments of Commerce and Justice that; ' The State of Mississippi's Judges and Federal Judicial Courts Systems Ranks last of the States of The United States, In Administering Justice with Judicial Fairness, and specifically Unfair to The Afro-Americans, as Jefferson is a afro-american male and for justice to appear as justice, truly warrants the Court's Review and the reversal of the appellant-plaintiff's case back to The Circuit Court.¹ See Christopher v. Harbury, 536 U.S. 403, 122 S.Ct. 2179, 153 L.Ed.2d 413 (2002) But, this is especially so in the case of the case Sub Judice, given the operative facts that the plaintiff is proceeding pro se, is indigent, is unrepresented by a legal counsel, is unlearned in the science of law, has had his, fundamentally civil liberties violated and has no other means of seeking the vindications of the loss, violations of his, constitutional civil rights, but through the appeals and the person, this case, represnts the Courts. See Christopher, Supra., see also , Plaintiff's Motion To Show Cause, Attached But Under Separate And Distinct Cover. Too, whereas, Courts have held and holds that;

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ Appellant asks the Courts, take judicial notices, that should it have some, apprehensions with the above publications for its veracity, with the Courts's inherent powers, the Courts can confirm this narrative at the Departments of Connerce and Justice 's offices, at Washington, DC, Unites States attorney general's official offices. See Id,

' the right of access to the courts means the right rise to the level of being a failure. The right of access is at its base a right to be heard. Therefore, a total loss of the opportunity to raise one's voice in the courts is itself the the requisite detriment. See Gentry v. Duckworth, 65 F. 3d 555, 559-60 (7th Cir. 1995). However, it follows plaintiff declares, urges the Courts, plaintiff knows no more , about the judicial, due process, than from what the legal para ---professionals apprises him of. See Id., see also, Article 3, § 14 & 26, Mississippi Constitutions of 1890, 1972, As Amended. The second and quintessential facts, factors that are outcome determinative and points in favor of the plaintiff's case , and must warrants a reversal, plaintiff filed his petition on or about June 14, 2010, and asked the trial court, grant him leave to seek reasonable discovery, interrogatories admissions, deposition from the defendants as practicab;e but under the appl9cable rules of the Court's procedures , and because he was proceeding pro se, not learned in the law that SB 3024 as appoied might represent and impermissibly implicate the constitution, grant an order appointing the plaintiff's rights legal counsels, but grant and preserve to amend his complaint. See CR. p. 2 Through 6. However the trial Court without any and/or requiring the defendants, to file a response on November 18, 2010, dismissed plaintiff's complaint and by orders dated January 19, 2011, the trial Court and ruling upon the appellant's motion for

reconsideration, denied same by orders dated January 19, 2011 See CR. p. 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9. Moreover, the trial Court's, relevant orders were not without prejudice, to allow the the appellant's adequate refiling within ninety (90) days, and it clearly, unreasonably erred and abused its discretion as a matter of law, See CR. p. 7, 8, and 9., see also, <u>Murrell v, Chandler</u>, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 9475 (5th Cir. 2008).

ARGUMENTS

Appellant would respectfully submit the Honorable Courts that for the Justices conveniency and to negate, repetitoin, that the statement of the issues, case and facts, summary of the arguments as set forth above will assume the arguments, but that The Standard of Review in the case of the case sub judice, and resolution of the issues represented this Appeal appellant begs that the Courts should be faithfully cognizant of the liberality to be afforded pro se litigants. See Myers v. State, 583 So.2d 174 (Miss. 1991), Haines v. Kerner, 404 U s. 519-20, 92 s.ct. 594-95, 30 L.Ed.2d 652 (1972), too, 'a de novo review. See Id. In the instant case, the plaintiff' June 14, 2010, Petition for his wrongful conviction, sentence and imprisonment in which he served some 20 months in the custody of The Mississippi Department of Corrections, while it requested a judgment be entered compensating him for his wrongful conviction, sentence and imprisonment he served appellant, his petition requested reasonable discovery to be

granted, in which the trial court, when entering its order November 18, 2010 did not address, did not grant rather the trial Court found that Jefferson's petition was improper and should be dismissed, and subsequently denied Jefferson 's, motion for reconsideration, by order dated January 19, 2011, therefore plaintiff maintains, complains that the trial Court's, orders of November 18, 2010, DISMISSAL, and January 19, 2011 denial, of his petition for his wrongful conviction, without allowing the appellant pro se, the adequate opportunity to Refile his complaint, petition within ninety (90) days, then the Honorable trial Court, completely, clearly erred, and abused its discretion, 'as a matter of law. See <u>Myers Supra</u>, see also, House Senate Bill 3024 (Supp. 2011) which provides for in the relevant parts;

SECTION 2. (3) If the Court finds after reading the claim that the claimant has not demonstrated the foregoing, it shall dismiss the claim, either on its own motion or on the State's motion. This dismissal shall be without prejudice to allow adequate refiling within ninety (90) days. See Senate Bill 3024 (Supp.2011).

In <u>Myers</u>, <u>Supra.</u>, the Justices there in the unmistakable, language, stated that;

By repeated cases the Federal courts have held that a motion to dismiss a civil complaint under Rule 12 (b) (6) comes under the following criteria: A complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. <u>Conley v. Gibson</u>, Tex. 1957, 78 S. Ct. 99, 355 U.S. 41, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 [Other Supportive Authority Omitted]. See <u>Myers</u>, <u>Supra</u>.

WHEREFORE, THESE PREMISES CONSIDERED, And upon the foregoing facts, arguments, authorities, the Court's, inherent power

and The Federal Law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United States, grant the appellant the reliefs and reversal of this case back to the trial Court, and any such other good and equitable reliefs the Justices of this Court deems the appellant-plaintiff is entitled.

FURTHERMORE, ON THE PREMISE, Insomuch as, the ap¹/₂ellant is proceeding pro se, and the Clerk of Court, failed to notice appellant's 'request for an extension of time within shich to file the briefs for the appellant, but by the filing of his Brief for the Appellant this instant, appellant request that the Court and Justices of this Court would permit him to dispense with the filing of The Motion to Show Cause, as so directed by The Clerk of The Court, notice of July 27, 2011 . See Appellant's Exhibits "A".