# CASE NO. 2011-CP-00265

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DENNIS JEFFERSON** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi Cause No.: 2010-CI 43

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Roger Googe, MSB # Special Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0220 Telephone: (601) 359-3815 Facsimile: (601) 359-2003

Attorney for Appellee

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2011-CP-00265

**DENNIS JEFFERSON** 

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE**

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether or not the Circuit Court wrongfully dismissed the *pro se* petition filed by Dennis E. Jefferson (Jefferson), which Jefferson had filed in that court seeking compensation for alleged wrongful imprisonment under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-1 *et seq*.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dennis Jefferson, along with two co-defendants, was indicted for the crime of house burglary in violation of Miss. Code. Ann. § 97-17-23. Jefferson's two co-defendants entered guilty pleas. Jefferson, however, elected to go to trial, and following the trial Jefferson was found guilty of burglary and sentenced to a term of seven years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and ordered to pay a \$10,000.00 fine and court costs and attorneys fees. (Record, p. 7), *Dennis Jefferson a/k/a Dennis E. Jefferson v. State of Mississippi*, 977 So.2d 431 (Miss.App.2008).

After his post-trial motion for new trial was denied, Jefferson filed a direct appeal. The Court of Appeals determined that the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to uphold the jury's verdict and reversed and remanded the case to the trial court for resentencing on the lesser included offense of willful trespass. (Record, p. 7), *Jefferson*, *supra*.

Jefferson, appearing *pro se*, then filed in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, his "petition pursuant to S.B. 3024" seeking compensation under the provision of §11-44-1 *et* 

seq. for allegedly having been wrongfully convicted and incarcerated.<sup>1</sup> The circuit court properly construed Jefferson's petition as being a complaint that was filed pursuant to the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-1 et seq. (Record, p. 7).

The circuit court, after careful consideration entered its written opinion on November 18, 2010 and determined that Jefferson's petition did not meet the statutory mandates of Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-3. The court, in its dismissal order dated November 18, 2010, (Record, p. 8) also addressed the fact that Jefferson had, in his petition, asked for (1) declaratory judgment declaring that his constitutional and due process rights were violated; (2) an order commanding compensation; and (3) for the appointment of counsel. (Record, p. 8).

Jefferson, after the dismissal of his petition, filed in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County his *pro se* motion for reconsideration of the court's order. The court determined, after a review of the motion, that there were no grounds as a matter of law to grant reconsideration of the November 18, 2010 Order and thus denied Jefferson's motion for reconsideration on January 19, 2011. (Record, p. 9).

It is from the orders of dismissal that Jefferson now appeals to this Court.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jefferson is seeking compensation for allegedly being wrongfully confined.

Section 11-44-3 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, which sets forth the pre-requisite for

Senate Bill 3024 to which Jefferson's petition refers had been enacted into law as § 11-44-1 *et seg.* of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and annotated.

filing a claim for compensation, is specific in its requirements. Section 11-44-3 sets forth the specific requirements that must be met in order to present an actionable claim for wrongful conviction and imprisonment. Section 11-44-3 also specifically states in paragraph (3) of said section that "[i]f the Court finds that after reading the claim that the claimant has not demonstrated the foregoing, it shall dismiss the claim, either on its own motion or on the state's motion. This dismissal shall be without prejudice to allow adequate refiling within ninety (90) days." Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-2 (1972). The "foregoing" mentioned above is referring to the specific requirements that are set forth in paragraph (3) of §11-44-3.

Jefferson's petition seeking compensation is a part of the record that is before this Court and is entitled "Petition Pursuant to S.B. 3024." Here it should be again noted that S.B. 3024 is the Senate Bill that eventually became §11-44-1 *et seq.* of the Mississippi Code, which became effective from and after July 1, 2009.

As the petition that Jefferson filed in the lower court did not comply with the requirements of §11-44-3, the circuit judge dismissed the claim on its own motion. (Record, p. 7-8). The dismissal of Jefferson's petition was proper as the petition does not meet the requirements of §11-44-3, and the court, under the statutory scheme, has the authority, which it properly exercised, to dismiss the claim for compensation for alleged wrongful confinement. Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-3 (3)

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The pertinent parts of §11-44-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, state

#### the following:

- (1) In order to present an actionable claim for wrongful conviction and imprisonment under this section, a claimant must establish by documentary evidence that:
- (a) The claimant has been convicted of one or more felonies and subsequently sentenced to a term of imprisonment and has served all or any part of the sentence;
  - (b) On grounds not inconsistent with innocence:
- (i) The claimant was pardoned for the felony or felonies for which sentenced and which are the grounds for the complaint and the pardon is based on the innocence of the claimant which must be affirmatively stated in the pardon; or
  - (ii) The judgment of conviction was vacated and/or reversed;
  - (c) If there was a vacatur or reversal, either the accusatory instrument was dismissed or nol prossed; or if a new trial was held, the defendant was found not guilty;
- (d) The claimant's claim is not time-barred by the provisions of this act; and
- (e) The claimant did not intentionally waive any appellate or post-conviction remedy otherwise available in order to benefit under this chapter.
- (2) The claim shall be verified by the claimant.

Mississippi Code Annotated §11-44-3, Supp. 2010.

Jefferson, in his petition, also asked for a declaratory judgment declaring that his constitutional and due process rights were violated and requested appointment of counsel.

All of the relief being sought by Jefferson was properly dismissed and denied by the circuit judge.

First of all, a reading of Jefferson's "Petition Pursuant to S.B. 3024" clearly shows that it is a petition that is filed pursuant to §11-44-1 *et seq*. of the Mississippi Code, as amended. As pointed out above, §11-44-3 sets forth very specific requirements which the legislature has mandated that must be complied with in order for an individual to present

an actionable claim for wrongful conviction and imprisonment. A review of the petition filed by Jefferson (Record, pp. 2-6) clearly shows that it does not comply with the statutory requirements.

Jefferson's petition does not include any documented evidence whatsoever as is required under paragraph (1) of §11-44-3. There is no documentary evidence showing that Jefferson, on grounds not inconsistent with innocence, was pardoned or that his judgment of conviction was vacated or reversed and/or the accusatory instrument was dismissed or nol prossed or that a new trial was held that he was found not guilty. None of the above requirements are met in Jefferson's petition nor can they be met or demonstrated because Jefferson's original conviction was reversed and the case was remanded to the trial court for re-sentencing on the lesser included offense of willful trespass. *Dennis Jefferson a/k/a Dennis E. Jefferson v. State of Mississippi*, 977 So.2d 431 (Miss.App. 2008).

Therefore, none of the above provisions of §11-44-3 were met and also the accusatory instrument has never been dismissed or nol prossed, nor was there a new trial held in which the Defendant, Jefferson, was found not guilty. Miss. Code Ann. §11-44-3 (1)(c). Jefferson's petition simply does meet any of the mandated requirements of §11-44-3.

Jefferson, appearing *pro se*, has also asked for declaratory judgment declaring that his constitutional and due process rights were violated. Jefferson's arguments that his constitutional rights have been violated are unsupported by any facts other than his

allegation that he is proceeding *pro se* and that he is not "learned in the law." Jefferson claims the court, in dismissing his complaint, did not allow him to re-file within the ninety (90) days that are allowed for refiling of a complaint that is dismissed under §11-44-3. The order that was entered by the circuit judge simply dismissed the matter and §11-44-3 (3) states that the dismissal is without prejudice and that claimant has ninety (90) days in which to properly refile his complaint. The lower court's order did not prohibit the claimant from refiling and there is no indication whatsoever in the record before this Court that Jefferson ever attempted to refile his complaint. The record only reflects that Jefferson filed a motion for the court to reconsider its order entered on November 19<sup>th</sup>. The court found that there were no grounds as a matter of law to support a reversal of its prior order.

With regard to Jefferson's argument concerning his not being "learned in the law," the Court of Appeals of this State has held that *pro se* litigants, while being afforded a certain amount of latitude, are nevertheless held to the same rules of procedure as represented parties. *Black v. City of Tupelo*, 853 So.2d 1221 (Miss.2003), *Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Dev. Corp.*, 511 So.2d 112, 118 (Miss. 1987).

The Court of Appeals in *Black*, in addressing a *pro se* claimant's claim under the Tort Claims Act, Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1 *et seq.*, noted that the specific notice requirements that are set forth by statute under the Tort Claims Act are a prerequisite to maintaining a cause of action against a governmental agency. The Court held in *Black*, *supra* that even though a *pro se* complainant should be provided latitude, they are

nevertheless held to the same rules of procedure as represented parties. In *Black*, the Court found that Black did not file a notice of claim as was required by the statute and, thus, his suit was barred by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

The same situation exists here. Jefferson, proceeding *pro se*, must be held to the same rules of procedure as represented counsel on procedural matters. Section11-44-3 clearly sets forth what must be procedurally done in order to file a claim for compensation. Jefferson's petition simply does not meet these procedural requirements. Therefore, the lower court properly dismissed the petition.

With regard to the claims of Jefferson in his petition concerning alleged violations of his constitutional and due process rights, Jefferson does not set forth or point to any fact which would even indicate any violation of any constitutional or due process rights. In fact, the record before this Court clearly shows that Jefferson was awarded due process in that his petition was heard, he then filed for reconsideration, and he has now filed this appeal. Furthermore, as to Jefferson's totally unsupported and bare bones allegations that his constitutional rights have been violated, it has been consistently held by the courts of this State that mere allegations in pleadings that are unsupported are not sufficient. There must be more. *Delarosa v. State of Mississippi*, 800 So.2d 1288 (Miss.App.2001); *McCuiston v. State of Mississippi*, 758 So.2d 1082 (Miss.App.2000); *Brooks v. State*, 573 So.2d 1350 (Miss.1990). Thus, there is no merit to any of Jefferson's totally unsubstantiated claims of constitutional or due process rights violations.

Finally, Jefferson's petition also asked for appointment of counsel. It must be

rests in the sound discretion of the court. The criteria that may be used by the court to determine whether or not to appoint counsel includes, but is not necessarily limited to, such factors as the legal and factual merits of the claims presented and the complexity of the issues. In the instant case, the issues are not complex, and furthermore, based upon the record and the fact that Jefferson's underlying criminal case was sent back for resentencing on a lesser included offense demonstrates the strong probability that Jefferson is not entitled to the relief of compensation that he requested in his petition. Therefore, the Court did not abuse its discretion in not appointing counsel for the Plaintiff. *See generally*, 14A C.J.S. Civil Rights Section 316; *Marshall v. Columbia Lea Regional Hosp.*, 345 F.3d 1157 (10th Cir.2003); *Davis v. Scott*, 94 F.3d 444 (8th Cir.1996).

#### V. CONCLUSION

Mississippi Code Annotated §11-44-3 sets forth with specificity the elements that are required as a prerequisite for filing a claim for alleged wrongful conviction and imprisonment. Those requirements must be met in order to file a proper claim. Jefferson, even though appearing *pro se* and being afforded some latitude in his *pro se* status, must be held to the same rules of procedure as represented parties. The circuit court judge acted properly under that authority in dismissing Jefferson's claim. Jefferson's failure to re-file a proper claim within ninety (90) days is a problem of his own making based on his failure to adhere to the procedural requirements that are statutorily mandated.

In the final analysis, and as shown by the record that is before this Court,

Jefferson's original charge for which he was incarcerated was not, on grounds not inconsistent with innocence, vacated and/or reversed with the accusatory instrument being dismissed or nol prossed. Nor was a new trial held in which the defendant was found not guilty. Thus, the facts demonstrate that Jefferson's claim would have, in any instance, failed and, thus, Jefferson's petition and his motion for reconsideration were properly denied. Therefore the actions of the lower court should be affirmed.